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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Grocery Manufacturers Association ("GMA"), appellant below, 

asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part IL 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

On September 5, 2018, Division II affirmed the trial court's 

liability findings but reversed that court's imposition of treble damages. 

State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass 'n, - Wn. App. -, 425 P.3d 927 (2018) 

("OMA"). See Appendix A. GMA timely sought reconsideration, which 

the court of appeals denied on November 7, 2018. See Appendix B. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. When GMA showed that the disclosures required of 

"political committees" under the Fair Campaign Practices Act ("FCPA") 

were not just burdensome but also would have subjected GMA's members 

to death threats and economic reprisals, the First Amendment called for 

"exacting scrutiny" of the justification for the State's enforcement action. 

Specifically, the State had to show that treating GMA as a "political 

committee" as of February 28, 2013, (1) promoted a sufficiently important 

state interest and (2) was substantially related to that interest. But the State 

relied wholly on the value of disclosure for its own sake and presented no 

evidence that, absent "political committee" treatment, GMA's activities 

would have misled or did mislead any voter or denied voters information 
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that they needed to understand the economic bias of the messaging that 

GMA supported. On this record, does the State's application of the FCPA 

to GMA fail exacting First Amendment scrutiny? 

B. The court of appeals held that, to be a "political committee" 

under the FCP A, an organization need not have a primary purpose of 

electioneering if it is charged under the "contributions" prong of the 

statute, even though it must have such a purpose if charged under the 

"expenditures" prong. Does this conflict with the holding in Utter v. 

Building Industry Association of Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398, 341 P. 3d 

953 (2015), and Utter's articulation of what the First Amendment 

requires? 

C. The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's holding that 

GMA violated a statute prohibiting "concealment" of the source of 

contributions. But the only conduct that purportedly gave rise to this 

violation was GMA's failure to register and report as a political 

committee. Case law and the structure of the FCP A suggest that violating 

the concealment statute requires fraudulent conduct, which indisputably 

GMA never engaged in. Did the court misapply the concealment statute by 

letting the State "double count" GMA's failure to register and report as a 

political committee as violating a different statute? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

GMA is a 111-year-old trade association of American food, 

beverage, and consumer-product makers. See CP 4052; RP 641-42. For 

several years debate raged over whether such companies should be 

required to disclose on food labels the presence of ingredients derived 

from genetically modified organisms, or GMOs. Trial Exhibit ("Ex.") 2, 

139. GMA sought to educate consumers about GMOs. GMA also 

recognized that complying with a patchwork of inconsistent GMO

labeling requirements would be costly, complex, and burdensome. Ex. 2, 

139. GMA thus favored uniform federal legislation1 and opposed 

piecemeal state-level efforts to address this issue. See RP 433-34, 654. 

One example of GMA's strategy is its opposition to a GMO

labeling initiative on the 2012 California ballot. See Ex. 139; CP 4053; RP 

442. There GMA learned that its own financial resources were too meager 

to enable meaningful political participation. See RP 433-34; Ex. 2. GMA 

therefore asked its members to contribute to the effort, both directly and 

by providing funds to GMA that were earmarked for the "No" campaign, 

all of which GMA disclosed. See Ex. 139; RP 277-78, 440-41. Because 

member companies had not planned for unbudgeted expenses, they had 

difficulty responding promptly to GMA's pleas for help. See Ex. 13. 

1 Federal legislation was enacted in July 2016. See Pub. L. 114-214. 
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Moreover, when their contributions were disclosed, many of GMA's 

members received threats and suffered boycotts. See RP 180-81; CP 4053. 

Given this experience, GMA and its members wanted a solution 

that would let GMA participate in the political process while protecting its 

members from danger and harassment. In August 2012 GMA staff 

discussed creating a "Defense of Brands Strategic Account" (the 

"Account"). Ex. 131; see also CP 4054. The goal of Account was to 

empower GMA to speak on the controversial issue of GMO labeling 

through lobbying, participation in ballot initiatives, issue advocacy, and 

consumer research and outreach. Ex. 21, 139; RP 441-43. 

At that time, August 2012, GMA knew virtually nothing about 

Washington Initiative 522. RP 436. It was not until November that GMA 

even began discussing I-522, which would not appear on the ballot for a 

year, if at all. See CP 4054. In January 2013 GMA commissioned a poll to 

determine the feasibility of challenging I-522 if and when it qualified for 

the ballot. Ex. 9, 137; CP 2337-38; RP 296-97, 329. GMA planned to 

decide whether to oppose I-522 based on the poll results. CP 2337-38; RP 

296-97, 329. 

Meanwhile, GMA wanted to add its own voice to the debate over 

GMO-labeling, while reducing the risk that its members would suffer 

reprisals as they had in California. See Ex. 2. GMA believed that the 
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Account would help it do this, and it was told this approach was lawful. 

See Ex. 16, 17, 23, 148; RP 155-56. Creation of the Account was approved 

on February 28, 2013. According to the State and the lower courts, this 

was the moment when GMA became a political committee that should 

have registered within fourteen days and reported a host of internal 

information, much of it unrelated to Washington electoral activities-two 

months before I-522 even qualified for the ballot. 

On March 15, 2013, GMA informed its members of its first polling 

results and first invoiced them for Account funds. Ex. 32 at 2; CP 4060. 

Once members paid into the Account, the money became GMA's. CP 918, 

1473-77; RP 297, 303, 338, 654. I-522 qualified for the November ballot 

on April 28, 2013. CP 605. On May 8, GMA made its first contribution to 

the No on 522 Committee ("No on I-522"). See Ex. 76. That and later 

contributions were all disclosed by No on I-522 as coming from GMA. 

In October 2013 the State sued GMA, alleging that GMA had 

failed to properly register and report as a political committee and that 

GMA had thereby concealed the sources of funds that it contributed in its 

own name to No on I-522. CP 18-24. GMA promptly registered a political 
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committee, "Grocery Manufacturers Association Against I-522,"2 and 

disclosed members who had paid into the Account. CP 1690-92, 3858-60. 

The trial court entered summary judgment against GMA on 

liability and found against it after a penalty-phase trial. On April 5, 2017, 

the trial court entered an amended judgment reflecting a net judgment 

amount of $19,026,090. SCP 4354-57. The court of appeals affirmed the 

trial court's liability determination but ruled that the trial court had 

improperly trebled its initial $6 million fine. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. As applied to GMA, the FCP A's disclosure mandate for 
"political committees" fails exacting scrutiny. 

Because compelled disclosure "can seriously infringe on privacy of 

association and belief guaranteed by the First Amendment," the 

"significant encroachments on First Amendment rights of the sort that 

compelled disclosure imposes . . . must survive exacting scrutiny." 

Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 64, 96 S. Ct. 612, 46 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1976). 

To survive exacting scrutiny, the State must show that applying the FCPA 

to GMA (1) promoted a sufficiently important government interest and (2) 

bore a substantial relationship to that interest. GMA, 425 P.3d at 939. 

2 No such entity existed, but the PDC told GMA to act as if there were one and to treat 
funds in the Account as member contributions to "GMA Against 1-522." See CP 546. The 
Account included significant monies spent on non-Washington state activities. See CP 
592-93, 610. 
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In the context of a ballot initiative, the State's interest in promoting 

fair elections by requiring disclosure of campaign contributions comes 

down to this: improving voters' understanding of the interests of those that 

fund messages favoring or opposing the measure. See Human Life of 

Wash., Inc. v. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990, 1005 (9th Cir. 2010).3 In this 

case, voters fully understood the interests of initiative opponents. The No 

on I-522 campaign disclosed its principal contributors as Monsanto, 

DuPont Pioneer, and Grocery Manufacturers Association. CP 1250.4 

To treat "disclosure" or "transparency" as ends in themselves (as 

the court of appeals did) is circular. The State must show that requiring a 

particular disclosure (the "means") actually promotes fair elections (the 

"end"). Far from applying exacting scrutiny, the court of appeals excused 

the State from proving that labeling GMA a political committee (1) 

promoted a fairer election and (2) did not disproportionately burden 

GMA's political expression. 

First, the court of appeals assumed without any evidence that 

labeling GMA a political committee made the election fairer because 

voters might be interested in knowing which members were contributing. 

3 Unlike financial support for candidates, there is no risk of quid-pro-quo corruption in an 
initiative campaign. 
4 See also No on 522, WASH. PDC (2013), https://www.pdc.wa.gov/browse/campaign
explorer/committee?filer _id=NO522%20%20507 &election _year=2013 (navigate to the 
"Contributions" tab). 
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The court should have required the State to demonstrate with evidence 

how this information would have enhanced the electoral process. Instead, 

the court took for granted that knowing the names of particular companies 

would be valuable to voters. GMA at 425 P.3d at 940 (surmising that this 

information could have let voters recognize that large beverage companies 

like Coca Cola were significant contributors to the Account). 

In doing so, the court overlooked evidence that it was GMA's 

smaller and less well-known members (rather than companies like Coca 

Cola) that were uniquely vulnerable to harassment, CP 2359-63,5 the risk 

of which outweighed any value to voters of knowing these companies' 

involvement. The court also ignored the State's utter failure to present 

evidence that GMA misled voters or that voters would have benefitted 

from more information. GMA was engaged in core political speech on an 

issue of public concern-an expressive activity at the heart of our political 

system entitled to the utmost First Amendment protection. Compared to 

this fundamental interest, the State's interest in promoting a more fully 

informed electorate was relatively insignificant, since there was no 

evidence that additional disclosure would in fact have helped voters. 6 

5 CP 2360: "The big companies are all well known .... [T]he list was being used as a 
witch hunt particularly to go after smaller companies that couldn't defend themselves." 
6 See McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm 'n, 514 U.S. 334, 348-49, 115 S. Ct. 1511, 131 L. 
Ed. 2d 426 (1995) (compelled disclosure of political flyers' author did not promote 
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Although the court may have thought it was just "common sense" to 

assume that more information is always better than less, doing that 

excused the State from its required showing and failed to give GMA the 

protection that the Constitution requires. 

Second, the court of appeals framed too narrowly the question of 

whether applying the FCP A to GMA disproportionately burdened the 

associational freedoms of GMA and its members. The court said that "[ a ]t 

least regarding the DOB [A]ccount, one of GMA's primary purposes was 

to influence the Washington election on I-522" because "GMA budgeted 

$10 million of the $16.5 million it planned to obtain ... for the DOB 

account to oppose I-522." GMA, 425 P.3d at 941 (emphasis added). The 

court erred in designating the Account, rather than GMA, as the reference 

point for evaluating the primacy of GMA's electoral activities. The proper 

question was whether electoral activity is a primary purpose of GMA.7 In 

setting the "denominator" against which to evaluate primacy so narrowly, 

the court of appeals adopted a standard the State can always satisfy 

transparency where author's identity would "add little, if anything, to the reader's ability 
to evaluate the ... message" that they received from a stranger). 
7 See State ex rel. Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass 'n, 111 Wn. App. 586, 
600, 49 P.3d 894 (2002) (factors for determining primary purpose include "(1) ... the 
stated goals and mission of the organization; (2) whether the organization's actions 
further its ... goals and mission; (3) whether the stated goals and mission of the 
organization would be substantially achieved by a favorable outcome in an upcoming 
election; and ( 4) whether the organization uses means other than electoral political 
activity to achieve its stated goals and mission." (emphasis added)). 
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whenever a national trade association budgets money for political activity 

that will be funded by special assessment. See GMA, 425 P.3d at 943-44 

("[M]ember payments are contributions to a political committee if the 

payments are segregated into a fund for political purposes and the 

members know or should know that the fund will be used for those 

purposes."). 

Such nominal protections are constitutionally intolerable, for they 

provide no check on the State's use of its coercive power to influence free 

expression. Applying the FCP A to GMA in these circumstances 

disproportionately burdened its right to engage in core political speech on 

national issues and its members' right to associate freely to do the same. 

Third, the court of appeals improperly discounted the interests of 

GMA's members in avoiding boycotts, harassment, and death threats. 

[F]reedom to engage in association for the advancement of 
beliefs and ideas is an inseparable aspect of the "liberty" 
assured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment, which embraces freedom of speech .... [I]t is 
immaterial whether the beliefs sought to be advanced by 
association pertain to political, economic, religious or 
cultural matters .... 

NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Patterson, 357 U.S. 449, 460, 78 S. Ct. 1163, 2 

L. Ed. 2d 1488 (1958). As the court of appeals noted, GMA's members 

suffered death threats, cyber harassment, and boycotts for participating in 

the California election, including efforts to attack their associational 
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freedom directly by forcing compames "to withdraw from GMA 

membership." GMA, 425 P.3d at 942 (citing CP 1540, 1765, 1771). GMA 

and its members also received online threats "every single day" and were 

the targets of vandalism. See CP 1543-44, 1775. 

The court of appeals dismissed all this as "similar to the evidence 

deemed not sufficient to prevent disclosure in Buckley and Reed." Id. 

Drawing such a parallel was strange, given that Buckley and Reed 

involved far weaker evidence about the consequences of disclosure than 

that shown here. Buckley held that minor-party officials could not avoid 

disclosure because "[a]t best they offer ... testimony ... that one or two 

persons refused to make contributions because of the possibility of 

disclosure." Buckley, 424 U.S. at 71-72. The Doe v. Reed plaintiffs 

facially challenged disclosure requirements but failed to address the lack 

of any reprisals attending disclosure in cases other than their own. 561 

U.S. 186, 200-01, 130 S. Ct. 2811, 177 L. Ed. 2d 493 (2010). 

This case presents exactly the type of evidence Buckley recognized 

as implicating associational freedom: "specific evidence of past or present 

harassment of members due to their associational ties, or of harassment 

directed against the organization itself," or "a pattern of threats or specific 

manifestations of public hostility." Buckley, 424 U.S. at 74. An 

organization or its members need not suffer an actual death to have their 
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associational freedoms protected; death threats will suffice. The court of 

appeals misapplied exacting scrutiny in addressing this significant 

constitutional question. See RAP 13.4(b)(3); Right-Price Recreation, LLC 

v. Connells Prairie Cmty. Council, 105 Wn. App. 813, 825, 21 P.3d 1157 

(2001) ("When advocacy groups are required to disclose the identity of 

their members and the details of all of their activities, the freedom of 

members to promote their views suffers."). 

B. The GMA decision conflicts with this Court's holding that the 
First Amendment requires limiting the political committee 
statute to entities with "a primary purpose" of electioneering. 

In Utter v. Building Industry Association of Washington, this Court 

held that the First Amendment requires imposing a "purpose" limitation 

on the political committee statute. 8 182 Wn.2d 398, 427, 341 P .3d 953 

(2015) ( applying the political committee statute only to organizations with 

a "primary purpose" of electioneering satisfies this requirement). The 

court of appeals misapplied Utter's holding by failing to apply the 

"primary purpose" limitation to the entire political committee statute. See 

RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

8 "'Political committee' means any person (except a candidate or an individual dealing 
with his or her own funds or property) having the expectation of receiving contributions 
or making expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or any ballot 
proposition." Former RCW 42.17A.005(37) (now subsection (40)). Washington courts 
analytically separate the "receiving contributions or making expenditures" language into 
two separate prongs, the "contribution" and "expenditure" prongs, respectively. 
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Utter explains that "[ c ]learly" one can be a political committee 

"under either the 'receiving contributions' or 'making expenditures' 

portion of the statutory definition, plus whatever 'purpose' test might also 

be added on to that statutory definition." Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 416 

( emphasis added). This "is necessary to satisfy First Amendment 

concerns." Id. at 427. Put simply, Utter imposes a constitutional threshold 

on political committee status-the burdens of which are equally onerous 

regardless of which statutory prong the State invokes.9 The State cannot 

jump this threshold merely because, until this case, no Washington court 

had the opportunity to apply the primary purpose test to the contributions 

prong. By allowing the State to do just that, the court of appeals' ruling 

subjected OMA to an unconstitutional burden on its First Amendment 

rights. 

1. Not applying the primary purpose test to the contributions 
prong chills protected speech and unduly burdens the 
activities of nationwide trade associations. 

Failing to apply a purpose limitation to the both prongs of the 

political committee statute unduly burdens the speech and non-speech 

activities of nationwide trade associations. 10 If such associations need not 

9 If anything, being a political committee under the contributions prong is more onerous 
than under the expenditure prong, because it imposes a disclosure obligation even before 
any money is spent on electioneering. 
10 The State never argued that GMA has a primary purpose of electioneering, see Resp. 's 
Br. (8/22/17) at 31-32, and thereby implicitly conceded that GMA lacks such a purpose. 
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have a primary purpose of electioneering to be swept up by the FCP A, 

their receipt of any funds that could potentially be spent in elections would 

require them to disclose a massive amount of internal information 

unrelated to electioneering11 as well as the names and addresses of 

member-contributors. See RCW 42.17 A.240(2). 

Such compelled disclosure chills members' willingness not just to 

contribute to a given cause, but to associate together at all. See Buckley, 

424 U.S. at 15 ("[E]ffective advocacy of both public and private points of 

view, particularly controversial ones, is undeniably enhanced by group 

association."); Right-Price, 105 Wn. App. at 825. It would also disclose 

groups' proprietary information and interfere with their internal operations 

by exposing information not implicating any state interest. State ex rel. 

Evergreen Freedom Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass 'n, 111 Wn. App. 586, 598, 

49 P .3d 894 (2002) ("EFF') ("All funds would have to be reported, even 

those used for traditional labor union activities not connected with 

electoral campaign activity .... "). 

2. Treating contributions differently from expenditures 
ignores the statute and creates an unconstitutional loophole. 

Under Washington law, contributions to an entity will become 

11 For instance, RCW 42.17 A.205 requires a political committee to reveal its internal 
corporate structure, id. (2)(b), to make certain financial information available for public 
inspection, id. (2)(i) (see also RCW 42.17 A.235), and to disclose detailed information 
about its debts, whether or not election related, see RCW 42.17 A.240(3 ), (8). 
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expenditures by it (unless the entity simply holds the funds after receiving 

them, which would render disclosure pointless). All "expenditures" were 

once "contributions" under the definition of "political committee": Former 

RCW 42.17 A.005(3 7) expressly exempts individuals spending their own 

funds, and it has been interpreted to do the same for entities. See 1973 Op. 

Att'y Gen. No. 14 at 25-26. The FCPA's definitions of "contribution" and 

"expenditure" are also reciprocal: each includes the other. 12 The court of 

appeals, however, saw a "fundamental difference between spending 

money on an election and receiving contributions from others to spend on 

an election." GMA, 425 P.3d at 937. On the contrary: Under this state's 

definition of "political committee," one making campaign expenditures 

must have gotten the money via contributions; 13 otherwise, the money 

would be the person's own, which would not make that person a political 

committee. 

As Attorney General Gregoire opined, having "a primary purpose" 

of electioneering is the sine qua non for political committee status: 

12 See RCW 42.17A.005(16)(a) ("'Contribution' includes ... [a]n expenditure made ... 
in cooperation [or] consultation ... with, or at the request or suggestion of ... a political 
committee .... "); id. .005(23) ("'Expenditure' includes a ... contribution .... "). 
13 GMA does not concede that special dues assessments paid into the Account constituted 
"contributions" under the statute. Its point, rather, is that the distinction between money 
coming in and money going out that the court of appeals relied on disappears under close 
analysis of Washington law. 
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In State v. Evans Campaign Committee, 86 Wn.2d 503, 546 
P.2d 75 (1976), the court adopted a primary purpose test to 
determine if an organization is a political committee . . . . 
An organization is only a political committee if a primary 
purpose of the organization is to affect, directly or 
indirectly, government decision making by supporting or 
opposing candidates or ballot propositions. If this is not a 
primary purpose of the organization, it is not a political 
committee. 

1993 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 3 (emphasis added). By failing to apply the 

purpose test to the whole statute, the court of appeals created a loophole 

for the State to evade Utter's constitutionally prescribed limits if, as here, 

the State cannot prove a group has a primary purpose of electioneering. If 

"[r]eading some stringent purpose requirement ... into our statute is 

necessary to satisfy First Amendment concerns," Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 427, 

then it is meaningless to do so with just half the statute. 

3. The court of appeals is the first court to limit the "primary 
purpose" test to the expenditures prong. 

In rejecting application of the primary purpose test to the 

contributions prong, the court of appeals said: 

[T]he language of former RCW 42.17 A.005(3 7) contains 
no primary purpose requirement for the contributions 
prong. And courts have not imposed one, even though they 
have had the opportunity. Immediately after the statement 
GMA quotes, the court in Utter proceeded to discuss the 
contributions prong without any suggestion that a primary 
purpose requirement applied to that prong. 

GMA, 425 P.3d at 937. This reasoning is flawed in at least three ways. 
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First, the text of the political committee statute does not contain a 

primary purpose test for either the contributions or the expenditures 

prong. As this Court has recognized, without a judicially imposed purpose 

limitation the statute raises genuine First Amendment concerns. Utter, 182 

Wn.2d at 427. Utter did not rely on the express statutory language but 

rather interpreted it so as to comply with the First Amendment. 

Second, the Utter Court did not mention the primary purpose test 

in discussing contributions, because the respondent never raised the test 

under that prong. Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 416 ("[W]e deal with the 

controversy over the 'purpose' test under the expenditure prong-the only 

prong under which [Respondent] raises it." ( emphasis added)). The Court 

all but invited later litigants to raise the issue under the contributions 

prong. It certainly never suggested this constitutional protection applied to 

only half the statute, as that would render the protection a nullity. 

Third, until now, no Washington court has had the opportunity to 

apply the primary purpose test to the contributions prong. The "primary 

purpose" language originated in a 1973 Attorney General Opinion, which 

opined that the "over-all [FCP A] statutory scheme . . . clearly was only 

meant to affect those organizations whose primary purpose is to attempt to 

influence elections." 1973 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 14. at 24-25 ("Opinion No. 
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14") (emphasis added). Later, State v. Evans Campaign Committee cited 

Opinion No. 14 to hold that the defendant lacked a primary purpose to 

influence government decision-making, and consequently that its giving 

money to another political committee did not make it into one itself. 86 

Wn.2d 503, 508-09, 546 P.2d 75 (1976). 

Next, EFF called Evans "the only Washington Supreme Court case 

to interpret the statutory definition of a 'political committee,"' and it 

followed Evans in applying the "primary purpose" test to a maker of 

expenditures without addressing whether it applied further. EFF, 111 Wn. 

App. at 598-99. Then came Utter, where the respondent argued primary 

purpose only under the expenditures prong. 14 It is due to happenstance

Evans just so happened to involve expenditures rather than 

contributions-that no court has applied the primary purpose test to the 

whole political committee statute. EFF recognizes that the test can and 

should so apply. EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 600 ("If . . . one of the 

organization's primary purposes was electoral political activity ... , and 

the organization received political contributions . . . , then the 

organization was a political committee .... "). The court of appeals here 

14 Similarly, "the prong at issue here" in Human Life of Wash., Inc. v. Brumsickle, 624 
F.3d 990, 997 (9th Cir. 2010), was "the 'expenditures' prong." 
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adopted an overly narrow version of the primary purpose test that fails to 

satisfy constitutional concerns. 

C. The court of appeals misinterpreted the concealment statute. 

The court of appeals rejected GMA's challenge to application of 

the concealment statute, RCW 42.17 A.435, in part because it believed 

GMA was raising not a vagueness argument but an argument that the trial 

court misapplied the statute. Regardless, GMA's argument showed why 

reversal was required: The trial court held that GMA violated the 

concealment statute simply by failing to register and report as a political 

committee, an obligation already imposed by other parts of the FCPA. The 

inevitable consequence of not registering cannot suffice to establish 

unlawful concealment; rather, an independent act intended to conceal or 

mislead is required. See Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm 'n v. 

Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. 277, 284, 150 P.3d 568 (2006) 

( concealment statute violated where defendant not only failed to disclose 

funds but also used corporate entity to hide payment for what "otherwise 

appeared to be grass-roots effort"). 

The court of appeals said that "even under GMA's independent act 

standard," GMA should be liable because "GMA deliberately concealed 

the identity of its members who contributed to the DOB account." GMA, 

19 



425 P.3d at 945. This is not the "independent act" standard GMA 

advocated; rather, it reflects the same mistake the trial court made. An act 

of nondisclosure is not unlawful "concealment," regardless of motivation, 

unless accompanied by an overt act meant to conceal or mislead. By 

failing to recognize this, the court of appeals inappropriately "double 

counted" GMA's supposed violation of the FCPA's register-and-report 

provisions as an entirely different statutory violation. 

Especially given the unprecedented size of the penalty imposed 

here and the implications of the GMA decision as precedent concerning 

interpretation of the FCP A under the Constitution, this is an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court. 

See RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, GMA respectfully asks this Court to 

accept review of the court of appeals' decision and to hold that applying 

the FCP A to GMA in the circumstances of this case violates the First 

Amendment. 

DATED this 7th day of December 2018. 
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PUBLISHED OPINION 

MAXA, CJ. -The Grocery Manufacturer's Association (GMA) appeals the trial court's 

imposition of an $18 million civil penalty for violations of the Fair Campaign Practices Act 

(FCPA), chapter 42.17 A RCW, relating to a 2013 Washington ballot initiative, Initiative 522. I-

522, which did not pass, would have required all packaged food products to identify ingredients 

containing genetically modified organisms (GMOs). 

GMA created a segregated account funded by contributions from some of its member 

companies to address GMO labeling issues, including opposing I-522. GMA made expenditures 

of approximately $11 million from the account to oppose I-522. However, GMA did not register 
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as a political committee with the Public Disclosure Commission (PDC) and did not comply with 

reporting and disclosure requirements for political committees. Specifically, GMA failed to 

disclose the companies contributing to the account. 

The trial court ruled on summary judgment that GMA became a "political committee" as 

defined in former RCW 42.17A.005(37) 1 when it created the account. The court also ruled that 

GMA violated various FCPA reporting and disclosure requirements for political committees and 

violated RCW 42.17A.435 by concealing the source of the contributions it made to oppose 1-522. 

After a bench trial on penalties, the trial court imposed a civil penalty of $6 million for the FCPA 

violations and trebled that amount as punitive damages under RCW 42.17A.765(5) based on a 

finding that GMA's violation of the law was intentional. 

We hold that (1) the trial court did not err in ruling on summary judgment that GMA 

became a political committee as defined in RCW 42.17A.005(37) because there was no genuine 

issue of material fact that GMA had an expectation ofreceiving contributions in opposition to 1-

522; (2) the FCPA's reporting and disclosure requirements do not violate the First Amendment 

as applied to GMA because they are substantially related to an important government interest in 

providing information to voters; (3) neither the definition of "political committee" nor RCW 

42.17.435, the statute prohibiting concealment of a contribution source, are unconstitutionally 

vague as applied to GMA; and ( 4) the trial court did not err at trial in excluding evidence of 

GMA's communications and cooperation with the PDC. However, we hold that the trial court 

1 The legislature amended RCW 42.17 A.005 in 2018, and recodified .005(3 7) as .005( 40). Laws 
of 2018, ch. 304, § 2. We refer to the former numbering. 
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erred in ruling that OMA did not need to subjectively intend to violate the law in order to be 

subject to treble damages under RCW 42.l 7A.765(5).2 

Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of the 

State, reverse the trial court's imposition of treble damages against OMA, and remand for further 

proceedings for the trial court to determine whether OMA is subject to treble damages under the 

proper legal standard. 

FACTS 

OMA is a nationwide trade association that represents hundreds of food, beverage, and 

consumer product companies. OMA is governed by a board of directors, comprised primarily of 

corporate officers from OMA member companies. 

OMA is interested in promoting reasonable and national food labeling requirements. 

OMA became involved in the debate over whether food labels should identify ingredients 

derived from GMOs. On behalf of its members, OMA opposed state and local GMO-labeling 

efforts. 

Summary Judgment Facts 

In 2012, OMA actively opposed a ballot proposition in California, Proposition 37. The 

ballot proposition would have required producers of packaged food products to label products 

containing GMOs. Because of GMA's opposition to Proposition 37, some of its member 

companies received negative public attention, including boycotts and threats. 

Later in 2012, OMA learned about a similar proposed ballot initiative in Washington, I-

522. OMA intended to oppose I-522 and any other state-level food labeling mandates. I-522 

2 OMA also argues that the total civil penalty of $18 million was an excessive fine under the 

Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Because we reverse the imposition of 

treble damages, we do not address this issue. 

3 
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was submitted to the legislature with public signatures on January 3, 2013. GMA conducted 

polling in Washington to determine if a campaign to oppose I-522 would be successful. And 

GMA staff began planning for an aggressive campaign in Washington, assuming that polling 

would support such a plan. 

At a January 2013 board meeting, GMA staff and board members discussed a plan to 

oppose GMO labeling initiatives, including I-522, while avoiding state financial disclosure filing 

requirements. The board preferred that GMA, rather than individual member companies, be 

identified as the source of political contributions. 

GMA staff briefed the board on a proposed plan to provide financial support for GMO

related activities through an account held by GMA, which staff called the Defense of Brands 

(DOB) account. The goal was to have a strategic account that provided funding for projects to 

accomplish the objective of not allowing mandatory GMO labeling. Opposing state ballot 

measures was one of several projects the DOB account would fund. Other projects included 

federal advocacy, consumer research, and state advocacy. Under the plan, GMA would invoice 

member companies for special contributions, which GMA would place in the DOB account and 

then spend on campaigns under its own name. 

Although GMA intended to oppose ballot measures in any state, at the time the 

possibility of creating the DOB account was discussed the only potential ballot initiative GMA 

planned to oppose was I-522. GMA's proposed budget for opposing GMO labeling initiatives in 

2013 allocated $10 million to defeating I-522. The board understood that a significant portion of 

the funds collected for the DOB account would be used to oppose I-522. 

The board approved the plan and created the DOB account on February 28, 2013. 

Although I-522 had not yet officially qualified for the ballot, GMA sent its first invoice for the 

4 
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DOB account to member companies on March 15. The invoice was accompanied by an update 

on the status of the campaign to oppose I-522. 

A total of 34 GMA member companies ultimately contributed to the DOB account. The 

three companies contributing significantly more money than the others were PepsiCo, Inc., 

Nestle USA, Inc., and The Coca Cola Company. Some members declined to participate in 

funding the account. 

GMA made its first contribution to the "No on 522" campaign from the DOB account on 

May 8. GMA did not make the decision to provide significant financial support to oppose I-522 

until then. GMA subsequently sent additional invoices to the DOB account contributors. GMA 

provided member companies with regular updates on the campaign to oppose I-522, and GMA 

members were informed when their contributions were transferred from the DOB account to the 

"No on 522" campaign. GMA ultimately contributed over $11 million from the DOB account to 

the "No on 522" campaign. 

GMA did not register with the PDC as a political committee when it established the DOB 

account. GMA did not register as a political committee or file any required political committee 

reports until it received a violation notice from the PDC in October 2013. 

Litigation and Summary Judgment 

The State sued GMA for failing to register as a political committee, failing to report 

financial contributions, and concealing the true source of contributions. 3 The State and GMA 

filed cross motions for summary judgment. 

3 GMA asserted a counterclaim, arguing that provisions of the Washington financial disclosure 
laws were unconstitutional under the First Amendment. GMA also filed a separate civil rights 
action against the attorney general in his official capacity. The trial court consolidated the 
State's lawsuit and GMA's lawsuit. 

5 



No. 49768-9-11/50188-1-II 

The trial court granted the State's motion for summary judgment regarding the 

requirement that GMA register as a political committee.4 The trial court concluded that "GMA 

solicited and received political contributions from its members[,] which ... it then used to 

oppose ... [1-522]. ... As a receiver of contributions, GMA qualified as a political committee 

under RCW 42.17A.005(37)." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 3339. The trial court ruled that from 

February 28, 2013 to the present, GMA had committed multiple violations of the FCPA. The 

trial court also ruled that the campaign finance laws at issue were not unconstitutionally vague as 

applied to GMA. 

The court reserved for trial the "sole issue of whether GMA intentionally violated the law 

and if so, whether the judgment in this case should be trebled as punitive damages as allowed 

under RCW 42.l 7A.765(5)." CP at 3340. 

Trial on Penalties 

Before trial, the State filed a motion in limine to exclude evidence of conversations 

between GMA and the PDC regarding registering as a political committee. The State argued that 

such evidence was not relevant to the issue of whether GMA intended to violate the FCPA. The 

trial court granted the State's motion and stated in its oral ruling, "Anything that occurred after 

[February 28, 2013] does not apply to what GMA's intent was in proposing, creating, and 

implementing the [DOB] account." Report of Proceedings (RP) (Mar. 25, 2016) at 34. 

GMA also filed a pretrial motion regarding the meaning of "intentional" in the context of 

RCW 42.17A.765(5). GMA argued that the State had to prove that GMA subjectively intended 

4 The State also alleged a violation of RCW 42.17 A.442, which requires that a political 
committee receive contributions of $10 or more from registered Washington voters before 
making a contribution to another political committee. The trial court found this statute 
unconstitutional as applied to ballot measure committees. The State does not appeal this ruling. 

6 
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to violate the law rather than merely intend to act in a way that happened to violate the law. The 

trial court ruled that proving an intentional violation under RCW 42.17 A. 765 required looking at 

"whether the person acted with the purpose of accomplishing an illegal act under RCW 42.17 A." 

CP at 3684. The court ruled that "intentional" was not limited to a subjective intent to violate the 

law; i.e., where the person subjectively knew his or her actions were illegal and acted anyway. 

The trial court held a bench trial on the issue of penalties and whether GMA intentionally 

violated the FCPA. The court heard testimony from Pamela Bailey, GMA President and CEO; 

Louis Finkel, former executive vice president of governmental affairs at GMA; Karin Moore, 

GMA's general counsel; three outside attorneys of GMA;5 an expert witness called by GMA; 

and Tony Perkins of the PDC. 

The trial court issued extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law. The court found 

that (1) GMA's plan was to identify only GMA as the source of GMO-related spending, 

providing anonymity for contributing members and shielding them from public scrutiny and state 

filing requirements; (2) one of the specific purposes of the DOB account was to eliminate the 

need to publicly disclose GMA members' contributions under state campaign finance disclosure 

laws; and (3) GMA approved the DOB account without asking its attorneys whether the account 

was legal under Washington law. 

Further, the court made findings of fact that it was not credible that GMA executives (1) 

did not intend to violate Washington campaign finance laws, (2) believed that shielding its 

5 One of the significant issues at trial was GMA' s affirmative defense of "advice of counsel." 
Many of the trial court's findings of fact related to this issue. The court concluded that GMA did 
not meet its burden of proving the defense. GMA does not appeal that conclusion and none of 
the appeal issues directly involves advice of counsel. 

7 
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members as the true source of contributions to the DOB account was legal, and (3) believed that 

they did not have to disclose the funds in the DOB account during the I-522 campaign. 

The trial court concluded that GMA intentionally violated the FCPA. The trial court 

imposed a $6 million civil penalty for GMA's multiple FCPA violations. The court then trebled 

the penalty "as punitive damages for GMA's intentional violations of state law." CP at 4072. 

The court entered a judgment against GMA for $18 million. 

GMA appeals the trial court's orders granting the State's motion for summary judgment 

on the issue of whether GMA was required to register and report as a political committee and 

entering a final judgment for a civil penalty against GMA. 

ANALYSIS 

A. FAIR CAMPAIGN PRACTICES ACT 

In 1972, Washington citizens passed Initiative 276, which established the PDC and 

formed the basis of Washington's campaign finance laws. Voters Educ. Comm. v. Pub. 

Disclosure Comm 'n, 161 Wn.2d 470,479, 166 P.3d 1174 (2007). I-276 was codified in portions 

of Chapter 42.17 A RCW, which generally is referred to as the Fair Campaign Practices Act 

(FCPA). Voters Educ. Comm., 161 Wn.2d at 480; RCW 42.17 A.909. 

The purpose ofl-276 was" 'to ferret out ... those whose purpose is to influence the 

political process and subject them to the reporting and disclosure requirements of the act in the 

interest of public information.'" Voters Educ. Comm., 161 Wn.2d at 480 (quoting State v. 

(1972) Dan J. Evans Campaign Comm., 86 Wn.2d 503, 508, 546 P.2d 75 (1976)). 

1. Public Policy 

RCW 42.17A.001 sets forth the declaration of policy of the FCPA. The public policy of 

the state includes: 

8 
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(1) That political campaign and lobbying contributions and expenditures be fully 
disclosed to the public and that secrecy is to be avoided. 

(5) That public confidence in government at all levels is essential and must be 
promoted by all possible means. 

(10) That the public's right to know of the financing of political campaigns and 
lobbying and the financial affairs of elected officials and candidates far outweighs 
any right that these matters remain secret and private. 

( 11) That, mindful of the right of individuals to privacy and the desirability of the 
efficient administration of government, full access to information concerning the 
conduct of government on every level must be assured as a fundamental and 
necessary precondition to the sound governance of a free society. 

(Emphasis added.) In addition, RCW 42.17A.001 states that "[t]he provisions of this chapter 

shall be liberally construed to promote complete disclosure of all information respecting the 

financing of political campaigns and lobbying." 

2. Political Committee 

The FCP A includes reporting and disclosure requirements for political committees to 

report to the PDC all contributions received and expenditures made. RCW 42.17 A.235(1). 

Under former RCW 42.17 A.005(3 7), a "political committee" means "any person ... having the 

expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of, or in opposition to, 

any candidate or any ballot proposition." 

A political committee must file a statement of organization with the PDC "within two 

weeks after organization or within two weeks after the committee first has the expectation of 

receiving contributions or making expenditures in any election campaign, whichever is earlier." 

RCW 42.17 A.205(1 ). The statement of organization must provide detailed information about the 

political committee, including identifying a treasurer and the depository of funds. RCW 

42.17 A.205(2). The political committee also must file reports with the PDC at various intervals 

9 
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that contain certain specified information. RCW 42.17 A.235, .240. This information includes 

the name of each person contributing funds to the committee and the amount of the contribution. 

RCW 42.17 A.235(3); RCW 42.17 A.240(2). 

The FCPA also prohibits concealing the source of contributions: 

No contribution shall be made and no expenditure shall be incurred, directly or 
indirectly, in a fictitious name, anonymously, or by one person through an agent, 
relative, or other person in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the source of 
the contribution or in any other manner so as to effect concealment. 

RCW 42.17 A.435. 

3. Civil Penalties 

A person who violates any provision in chapter 42.17 A RCW may be subject to a civil 

penalty of not more than $10,000 for each violation. RCW 42.17 A. 750(1 )( c ). A person who 

fails to timely file a required statement or report may be subject to a civil penalty of $10 per day 

while the delinquency continues. RCW 42.17 A. 750(1 )( d). A person who fails to report a 

contribution or expenditure as required may be subject to a civil penalty equivalent to the amount 

not reported. RCW 42.17A.750(1)(f). 

In an action brought to enforce the FCP A, the court may award to the State the costs of 

investigation and trial, including reasonable attorney fees. RCW 42.17 A.765(5). 

The court may treble the amount of the judgment, including costs, as punitive damages 

"[i]f the violation is found to have been intentional." RCW 42.17 A. 765(5). 

B. SUMMARY JUDGMENT- GMA AS A POLITICAL COMMITTEE 

GMA argues that the trial court erred by granting the State's motion for summary 

judgment on the issue of whether GMA became a political committee as defined in former RCW 

42.l 7A.005(37). We disagree. 

10 
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1. Standard of Review 

We review a trial court's summary judgment order de novo. Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass 'n 

of Wash., 182 Wn.2d 398,406,341 P.3d 953 (2015). We view all facts and reasonable 

inferences drawn from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id 

Summary judgment is appropriate if there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving 

party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id 

The moving party bears the burden of first showing that there is no genuine issue of 

material fact. Zonnebloem, LLC v. Blue Bay Holdings, LLC, 200 Wn. App. 178, 183,401 P.3d 

468 (2017). " 'A genuine issue of material fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on 

the facts controlling the outcome of the litigation.' " Sutton v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10, 180 

Wn. App. 859, 864-65, 324 P.3d 763 (2014) (quoting Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County, 164 

Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008)). Ifreasonable minds can reach only one conclusion on an 

issue of fact, that issue can be determined on summary judgment. Zonnebloem, 200 Wn. App. at 

183. 

Here, the trial court's summary judgment order included extensive findings of fact. 

Because our review is de novo, findings of fact in a summary judgment order are superfluous 

and we do not considerthem.6 Nelson v. Dep'tofLabor & Indus., 198 Wn. App. 101,109,392 

P.3d 1138 (2017). 

6 The trial court's findings of fact after trial included findings regarding whether OMA became a 
political committee and whether OMA violated reporting and disclosure requirements. The court 
stated that these findings were included to correct its summary judgment findings of fact. We 
also disregard those findings. 

11 
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2. Becoming a "Political Committee" 

a. Statutory Definition 

Under former RCW 42.17 A.005(37), a "political committee" means "any person ... 

having the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of, or in 

opposition to, any candidate or any ballot proposition." Former RCW 42.17 A.005(37) provides 

two alternative prongs under which an organization may become a political committee: " '(1) 

expecting to receive or receiving contributions, or (2) expecting to make or making expenditures 

to further electoral political goals.' " Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 415 ( quoting State ex rel. Evergreen 

Freedom Found. v. Wash. Educ. Ass'n, 111 Wn. App. 586,598, 49 P.3d 894 (2002) (EFF)). The 

organization's expectation is what matters, and the expectation requirement applies to both the 

contributions and expenditures prongs. Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 416. And the contributions must be 

received and the expenditures made "in support of, or in opposition to, any candidate or any 

ballot proposition." Former RCW 42.l 7A.005(37). 

As with all FCPA provisions, former RCW 42.l 7A.005(37) must be liberally construed 

"to promote complete disclosure of all information respecting the financing of political 

campaigns." RCW 42.l 7A.001. On the other hand, "[t]he definition of political committee was 

not meant to indiscriminately include all those who seek to influence government by their 

support or opposition to candidates or ballot propositions." EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 601-02. 

The definition of "political committee" is a question of law that we review de novo. Id. 

b. Contributions Prong 

Regarding the contributions prong, a special standard applies to organizations like GMA 

that primarily are funded through payments from members. Id. at 602-03. This court in EFF 

relied on a 1973 Attorney General Letter Opinion in holding that an organization meets the 

12 
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receiver of contributions prong "if the members are called upon to make payments that are 

segregated for political purposes and the members know, or reasonably should know, of this 

political use." Id. at 602 (citing 1973 Letter Op. Att'y Gen. No. 114, at 4). Similarly, the court 

stated that member payments are contributions "if the membership makes payments that are 

segregated into a fund for political purposes and the membership knows or should know of this 

segregation." EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 602. 

Under this standard, this court in EFF held that the Washington Education Association 

(WEA) was not a political committee because membership dues were paid into "the WEA 

general fund, which was not segregated in any manner for political expenditures." Id. at 603. As 

a result, the members "would have had no actual or constructive knowledge that their 

membership dues would be used for electoral political activity." Id. 

c. Expenditures Prong 

Regarding the expenditures prong, the statutory requirement is that an organization 

expects to make expenditures in support of a candidate or ballot initiative. Former RCW 

42.17A.005(37). Because of First Amendment concerns, courts also have imposed a second 

requirement: one of the organization's primary purposes must be political advocacy. Utter, 182 

Wn.2d at 423-27. 

In Utter, the Supreme Court emphasized that political advocacy must only be a primary 

purpose of an organization to meet the expenditures prong, and expressly rejected the argument 

that political advocacy must be the primary purpose of an organization. Id. at 427. "But if 

electoral political activity is merely one means the organization uses to achieve its legitimate 

broad nonpolitical goals, electoral political activity cannot be said to be one of the organization's 

primary purposes." EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 600. 

13 
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d. "Primary Purpose" Requirement for Contributions Prong 

GMA argues that we also should apply a "primary purpose" requirement to the 

contributions prong as well as to the expenditures prong. GMA acknowledges that no court has 

adopted this second requirement for the contributions prong. But GMA relies on the following 

statement in Utter: 

Clearly ... an entity can meet the definition of a "political committee" under either 
the "receiving contributions" or "making expenditures" portion of the statutory 
definition, plus whatever "purpose" test might also be added on to that statutory 
definition. 

182 Wn.2d at 416 ( emphasis added). GMA claims that this passage essentially states that a 

primary purpose test should apply to both prongs of the definition of political committee. 

However, the language of former RCW 42.l 7A.005(37) contains no primary purpose 

requirement for the contributions prong. And courts have not imposed one, even though they 

have had the opportunity. Immediately after the statement GMA quotes, the court in Utter 

proceeded to discuss the contributions prong without any suggestion that a primary purpose 

requirement applied to that prong. Id. at 416-19. The court addressed a primary purpose 

requirement- in great detail- only with reference to the expenditures prong. Id. at 423-27. And 

this court in EFF also discussed a primary purpose requirement for the expenditures prong, and 

then addressed the contributions prong without mentioning a primary purpose requirement. 111 

Wn. App. at 598-603. 

In addition, as the State notes, there is a fundamental difference between spending money 

on an election and receiving contributions from others to spend on an election. If an 

organization receives contributions and places them in a segregated fund to support or oppose a 

Washington initiative, that activity is subject to the FCPA regardless of whether advocating for 

or against the initiative is a primary purpose of the organization. 

14 
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Because neither the Supreme Court nor this court have extended a primary purpose 

requirement to the contributions prong, we decline to do so. 

3. Contributions Prong Analysis 

The trial court ruled that GMA became a political committee only under the contributions 

prong of former RCW 42.17 A.005(37). And the State does not argue on appeal that the 

expenditures prong applies for purposes of upholding the trial court's summary judgment order. 

Therefore, we need only address the contributions prong. 

GMA does not dispute that several elements of the EFF analysis were satisfied here. As 

of the February 28, 2013 board meeting, GMA members were asked to make special payments 

and GMA expected to receive those payments. Those payments were to be segregated into a 

separate account. And the members knew that the payments would be placed into a segregated 

account. 

The only material fact that GMA challenges is whether, when the DOB account was 

established, GMA had an expectation of receiving contributions "in opposition to ... any ballot 

proposition." Former RCW 42.l ?A.005(37). 

GMA makes three arguments regarding the trial court's summary judgment order. First, 

it argues that GMA's and its members' expectations in creating the DOB account involved 

questions regarding their mental state, which should not be resolved on summary judgment. 

However, like any other issue, a party's mental state can be resolved on summary judgment if 

there is no genuine issue of material fact on the issue. GMA cites no authority to the contrary. 

Second, GMA argues that reasonable minds could differ as to whether GMA established 

the DOB account to fund opposition to I-522. GMA points to evidence that (1) it first conceived 

of the account in August 2012, before it knew ofl-522; and (2) the February 28, 2013 board 
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minutes describe five strategic objectives of the account, only one of which was to oppose state 

efforts to impose mandatory labels. 

There is no question that the summary judgment evidence, viewed in a light most 

favorable to GMA, showed that the DOB account was conceived and approved to fund multiple 

projects. However, there also was undisputed evidence that GMA had an expectation that the 

fund would be used to oppose 1-522 if that initiative was placed on the ballot. The board minutes 

GMA cites also stated, "[l]f the referendum in Washington were to pass, it could make success 

on other fronts very unlikely to succeed. As a consequence, Washington was critical to the 

success of the overall objective." CP at 1909. Further, the proposed budget for the DOB 

account showed spending of $10 million in 2013 (from total contributions of $16.25 million) on 

the Washington ballot measure campaign.7 Other evidence made it clear that GMA expected 

that member contributions to the DOB account would be used in significant part to fund 

opposition to 1-522. For example, GMA included an update on 1-522 opposition efforts with its 

DOB account invoices. 

Third, GMA argues that when the DOB account was created, GMA had made no final 

decision about spending the funds in Washington. GMA points to evidence that (1) GMA was 

waiting for polling results to decide whether to spend money in Washington; and (2) GMA did 

not decide to contribute to the "No on I-522" campaign until after I-522 qualified for the ballot in 

April 2013. 

7 GMA argues that it submitted evidence that the budget numbers were merely approximations. 
But regardless of the specific amounts, the proposed budgets unequivocally showed that GMA 
expected to spend a significant amount of the DOB account in opposition to I-522. 
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Again, there is no question that the summary judgment evidence, viewed in a light most 

favorable to GMA, showed that GMA was not completely certain on February 28, 2013 that the 

DOB account would be used to fund opposition to I-522. But former RCW 42.17 A.005(37) does 

not require certainty. If an organization has the expectation of receiving contributions in 

opposition to a ballot proposition, it becomes a political committee. Former RCW 

42.l 7A.005(37). There was undisputed evidence that GMA expected that I-522 would be placed 

on the ballot, that GMA expected to receive contributions from certain member companies to the 

DOB account, and that GMA expected to spend a significant amount of money from the DOB 

account opposing I-522. 

Further, there was absolute certainty that GMA expected to receive contributions in 

opposition to I-522 by at least May 8, 2013, when GMA made its first contribution to "No on I-

522." After that point, GMA still invoiced its members to fund the DOB account. But GMA did 

not register as a political committee at that time. 

We hold that because there is no genuine issue of material fact that GMA expected to 

receive contributions - and did in fact receive contributions - to oppose I-522, it qualified as a 

political committee under former RCW 42.17A.005(37). Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's 

order granting summary judgment in favor of the State on this issue. 

C. FIRST AMENDMENT CHALLENGE TO FCPA 

GMA argues that as applied in this case, the FCP A violated its First Amendment right to 

engage in political speech. GMA claims that under the exacting scrutiny standard, the FCP A 

requirements that are applicable here are not substantially related to the State's interest in 

providing voters with information about the persons opposing ballot initiatives. We disagree. 

17 



No. 49768-9-II/50188-1-II 

1. Legal Standard 

Statutes are generally presumed to be constitutional, and the party challenging a statute 

has the burden of proving unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. Voters Educ. Comm., 

161 Wn.2d at 481. However, where a statute impacts First Amendment rights, the State 

generally has the burden to justify a restriction on speech. Id. at 482. 

Statutes that regulate speech based on content are subject to strict scrutiny. Rickert v. 

Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, 161 Wn.2d 843,848, 168 P.3d 826 (2007). However, statutes that 

merely impose disclosure requirements are subject to the less stringent "exacting scrutiny" test. 

Voters Educ. Comm., 161 Wn.2d at 482. Under this standard, disclosure requirements must have 

a relevant correlation or substantial relation to a government interest. Id. We must determine 

whether (1) the disclosure requirements promote a sufficiently important government interest, 

and (2) there is a substantial relationship between the disclosure requirements and that interest. 

Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 434; Voters Educ. Comm., 161 Wn.2d at 482. 

2. Government Interest 

Courts consistently have recognized that the State has an important government interest 

in providing voters with information regarding persons involved with supporting or opposing 

ballot initiatives. In State ex rel. Pub. Disclosure Comm 'n v. Permanent Offense, the court 

stated: 

Washington State has a substantial interest in providing the electorate with 
valuable information about who is promoting ballot measures and why they are 
doing so. In short, the voters need to know "who is doing the talking" about ballot 
measures. Moreover, it is particularly important in these situations that voters know 
whether other influences-particularly money-are affecting those who are 
otherwise known as grass-roots organizers. Finally, the State has a substantial 
interest in promoting integrity and preventing concealment that could harm the 
public and mislead voters. 

136 Wn. App. 277,284, 150 P.3d 568 (2006) (emphasis added). 
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In Voters Education Committee, the Supreme Court identified providing the electorate 

with information and preventing corruption as important government interests. 161 Wn.2d at 

482. The court also emphasized that the First Amendment protects not only the right to free 

speech, but also assures the public's right to receive information. Id. at 483. Campaign 

disclosure laws promote political speech, and parties who challenge those laws " 'never 

satisfactorily answer the question of how uninhibited, robust, and wide-open speech can occur 

when organizations hide themselves from the scrutiny of the voting public.'" Id. (emphasis in 

original deleted) (quoting McConnell v. Fed. Election Comm 'n, 540 U.S. 93, 196, 124 S. Ct. 619, 

157 L. Ed. 2d 491 (2003). 

In Human Life of Washington, Inc. v. Brumsickle, a Ninth Circuit case addressing the 

constitutionality of certain FCP A provisions, the court highlighted the importance of informing 

voters where money comes from in relation to ballot initiative campaigns. 624 F.3d 990, 1007 

(9th Cir. 2010). The court recognized that in the initiative process, voters essentially act as 

legislators, and they need to know who is lobbying for their vote. The court stated: 

Campaign finance disclosure requirements thus advance the important and well
recognized governmental interest of providing the voting public with the 
information with which to assess the various messages vying for their attention in 
the marketplace of ideas. An appeal to cast one 's vote in a particular way might 
prove persuasive when made or financed by one source, but the same argument 
might fall on deaf ears when made or financed by another. 

Id. at 1008 (emphasis added). 

Finally, this court in State v. Evergreen Freedom Foundation noted the government 

interests identified in the cases discussed above, but also referred to the policy supporting the 

FCPA: "The goal of disclosure was intended to improve public confidence in the fairness of 

elections and government processes and to protect the public interest." 1 Wn. App.2d 288, 309, 

404 P.3d 618 (2017), review granted, 190 Wn.2d 1002, 413 P.3d 11 (2018). 
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3. Substantial Relationship to Government Interest 

GMA acknowledges that the State has an interest in the disclosure of campaign 

contributions. But GMA argues that the State cannot show that the FCP A's reporting and 

disclosure requirements are substantially related to that interest as applied to GMA. We 

disagree. 

a. Legal Principles 

Under the exacting scrutiny standard, the State need not show that the challenged law 

represents the least restrictive means of furthering the important government interest, only that 

the law is substantially related to that interest. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1013. Courts have 

recognized that disclosure requirements - as opposed to limitations on campaign spending -

often are the least restrictive means of promoting the interests of voter information and curbing 

corruption. Voters Educ. Comm., 161 Wn.2d at 482-83; see also Citizen's United v. Fed. 

Election Comm 'n, 558 U.S. 310, 369, 130 S. Ct. 876, 175 L. Ed. 2d 753 (2010). 

In an as-applied challenge, which GMA makes here, the question is whether an otherwise 

valid law is unconstitutional as applied to the party challenging it. Didlake v. State, 186 Wn. 

App. 417, 423, 345 P.3d 43 (2015). This review is heavily dependent on the specific facts 

demonstrating the burdens imposed on the party challenging the law. See Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 

430. The party challenging the law as applied must present a sufficient factual record for the 

reviewing court to perform the exacting scrutiny analysis. See id. (holding that an as applied 

constitutional challenge was not ripe for review because the factual record was insufficient). 

b. Misleading of Voters 

GMA argues that disclosing names of the contributors to the DOB account as required in 

RCW 42.17 A.235(3) is not substantially related to the State's interest because no voters would 
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be misled by nondisclosure. GMA claims that the name "Grocery Manufacturers Association" 

gave notice to voters that grocery manufacturers were funding the opposition to I-522 and 

therefore was sufficient to satisfy the State's interest in identifying the source of political 

contributions. 

However, even though GMA's name may not be misleading, informing voters that GMA 

was opposing I-522 was not the same as informing voters which specific companies were 

funding the efforts to defeat I-522. Disclosing that a nationwide association of "grocery 

manufacturers" is opposing the initiative is not particularly informative because "grocery 

manufacturers" is such a broad category. GMA acknowledged that any company selling 

anything in a supermarket was either a GMA member or eligible to be a member. 

Knowing the names of the companies actually funding GMA's efforts - and particularly 

the types of products those companies sell-would be valuable to voters. For example, the three 

companies contributing significantly more money than the others were PepsiCo, Inc., Nestle 

USA, Inc., and The Coca Cola Company. Voters may have been able to discern from this 

information that beverage manufacturers were particularly concerned about GMO labeling. 

In addition, it was important for voters to know which GMA members were not opposing 

I-522. GMA was not making contributions from payments by all GMA members. Only a 

relatively small group of companies - only 34 companies were listed in GMA's initial disclosure 

- were funding the opposition effort, and some members declined to participate. Identifying the 

1-522 opponent as GMA did not provide that information and could have mislead voters. 

c. No Primary Purpose to Influence Elections 

GMA argues that applying the FCPA disclosure and reporting requirements to 

nationwide, general-purpose trade organizations like GMA that do not have a primary purpose of 
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influencing elections is over inclusive. GMA claims that the rule stated in EFF requiring an 

organization to register as a political committee when it creates a fund segregated for political 

purposes should be applied only to traditional, in-state political action committees. 

As discussed above, Washington courts have not applied a primary purpose requirement 

to the contributions prong of the definition of political committee. Utter, 182 Wn.2d at 416-19; 

EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 602-03. GMA is not arguing in this context that we adopt a primary 

purpose requirement. Its argument is that in the absence of a primary purpose requirement, the 

FCPA regulations burden organizations like GMA more than they further the State's interests. 

GMA's argument may be valid in some contexts, but not under the facts in this case. The 

undisputed evidence here was that GMA budgeted $10 million of the $16.5 million it planned to 

obtain from its members for the DOB account to oppose 1-522 in Washington. At least regarding 

the DOB account, one of GMA's primary purposes was to influence the Washington election on 

1-522. In this context, there is a substantial relationship between the FCPA disclosure and 

reporting requirements and the State's interests in providing voters with information about 

persons opposing ballot initiatives. 

d. Burden on Associational Rights 

GMA argues that the burden on its associational rights outweighs the State's interest 

because GMA members faced threats and boycotts if they were identified as contributors to the 

1-522 opposition. GMA claims that they have a right to member anonymity. 

The United States Supreme Court has acknowledged that disclosure requirements may 

fail exacting scrutiny as applied to a specific group if the group can show " 'a reasonable 

probability that the compelled disclosure ... will subject them to threats, harassment, or reprisals 

from either Government officials or private parties.'" Doe v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186,200, 130 S. 
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Ct. 2811, 177 L. Ed. 2d 493 (2010) (quoting Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 74, 96 S. Ct. 612, 46 

L. Ed. 2d 659 (1976)). A review of cases discussing this issue is instructive. 

In NAACP v. Alabama, the Court addressed a law that required the National Association 

for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) to reveal the names of its members and agents 

in Alabama. 357 U.S. 449,451, 78 S. Ct. 1163, 2 L. Ed 2d 1488 (1958). The appellants made 

an "uncontroverted showing that on past occasions revelation of the identity of its rank-and-file 

members has exposed these members to economic reprisal, loss of employment, threat of 

physical coercion, and other manifestations of public hostility." Id. at 462. However, the State 

was unable to show an interest that was sufficient to justify the detrimental effect disclosure 

would have on NAACP members' associational rights. Id. at 463-64. The Court held that under 

these facts, disclosure was not required. Id. at 466. 

In Buckley, minor political parties challenged the Federal Election Campaign Act on the 

basis that reporting and disclosure requirements could subject contributors to those parties to 

harassment. 424 U.S. at 69. The Court stated that there could be cases similar to NAACP v. 

Alabama where the threat to First Amendment rights is "so serious" and the state's interest is "so 

insubstantial" that the Act's requirements would be unconstitutional. Id. at 71. The organization 

would have to show a "reasonable probability" that a disclosure of contributors' names would 

subject them to "threats, harassment, or reprisals." Id. at 7 4. "The proof may include, for 

example, specific evidence of past or present harassment of members due to their associational 

ties, or of harassment directed against the organization itself. A pattern of threats or specific 

manifestations of public hostility may be sufficient." Id. 

But the Court ruled that the appellants had not provided any evidence of a similar scale of 

harassment and that any serious infringement of First Amendment rights was highly speculative. 
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Id. at 70-71. Specifically, the appellants had not met the reasonable probability standard by 

merely presenting articulated fears of harassment without showing focused and insistent 

harassment. Id. at 71-72. 

In Reed, the Court again held that the plaintiffs did not meet the required showing of a 

reasonable probability of threats or harassment. 561 U.S. at 199-201. There, the plaintiffs 

alleged that requiring disclosure of the names of individuals who signed a Washington 

referendum petition did not meet exacting scrutiny as applied because opposing groups planned 

to post the disclosed information on the internet, where it would "effectively become a blueprint 

for harassment and intimidation." Id. at 200. The plaintiffs offered evidence of harassment 

against individuals who signed a similar petition in California. Id. The Court stated that the 

plaintiffs offered little evidence to support the claim that disclosure would lead to harassment 

and that other controversial petitions had been subject to disclosure without incident. Id. at 201. 

Here, GMA presented minimal evidence that their members suffered adverse 

consequences because of their opposition to the California GMO initiative. Bailey testified that 

(1) "[t]hese are not pleasant campaigns; there were death threats. There were all sorts of things 

that went on," CP at 1765; (2) "[c]ompanies were picketed, their Facebook pages were taken 

down," CP at 1540; and (3) "companies were having their Facebook pages attacked .... [T]here 

were certain campaigns to get companies to withdraw from GMA membership." CP at 1771 

But the evidence GMA offered is similar to the evidence deemed not sufficient to prevent 

disclosure in Buckley and Reed. GMA's generalized concerns do not establish a reasonable 

probability that GMA member companies would suffer the type of adverse impacts that would 

have had a chilling effect on freedom of association or political speech. In addition, as discussed 

above, the State has a compelling interest in informing the voters about who is contributing 
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money to initiative campaigns. GMA has not shown that the threat of negative impacts would 

outweigh this State interest. 8 

e. Summary 

We hold that as applied in this case, the substantial relationship between the FCPA 

disclosure and reporting requirements and the State's interest in providing information to voters 

was not negated by the facts that (1) GMA's name provided some information about the identity 

of the companies opposing 1-522, (2) GMA is a nationwide, general-purpose organization that 

does not have a primary purpose of influencing elections, and (3) GMA member companies 

potentially could have received threats and boycotts for opposing 1-522. Accordingly, we hold 

that the FCPA provisions at issue here did not violate GMA's First Amendment rights. 

D. VAGUENESS CHALLENGES 

GMA challenges on vagueness grounds (1) the definition of "political committee" in 

former RCW 42.17 A.005(37) and (2) certain provisions in RCW 42.17 A.435, which prohibits 

concealment of a contribution source. We hold that these statutes are not unconstitutionally 

vague. 

1. Legal Principles 

Under the Fourteenth Amendment, a statute may be void for vagueness if it is framed in 

terms so vague that persons of common intelligence must guess at its meaning and cannot agree 

on its application. Voters Educ. Comm., 161 Wn.2d at 484. A vague statute that regulates 

8 GMA cites Right-Price Recreation, LLC v. Connells Prairie Community Council, 105 Wn. 
App. 813, 21 P.3d 1157 (2001). However, this case discussed the implications of required 
disclosure in the context of discovery, not public elections. See also Eugster v. City of Spokane, 
121 Wn. App. 799, 807-10, 91 P.3d 117 (2004). Civil discovery cases do not involve the State's 
interest in providing information to voters. 
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speech also infringes on First Amendment rights. Id. A statute must have a greater degree of 

specificity and clarity of purpose when First Amendment freedoms are at stake. Id. at 485. 

The goals of the vagueness doctrine are to provide fair notice of what conduct is 

prohibited and to protect against arbitrary enforcement. Postema v. Pollution Control Hr 'gs Bd., 

142 Wn.2d 68, 114, 11 P.3d 726 (2000). Uncertainty as to the statute's meaning alone does not 

make the statute impermissibly vague. Am. Legion Post No. 149 v. Dep 't of Health, 164 Wn.2d 

570,613, 192 P.3d 306 (2008). To determine whether a statute is sufficiently definite, we look 

to the provision in question within the context of the enactment, giving language a sensible, 

meaningful, and practical interpretation. Id. A statute is not invalid simply because it could 

have been drafted with greater precision. Id. A statute's language is sufficiently clear when it 

provides explicit standards for those who apply them and provides a person of ordinary 

intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited. See Voters Educ. Comm., 161 

Wn.2d at 488-89. 

The party asserting that a statute is unconstitutionally vague must prove its vagueness 

beyond a reasonable doubt, even when the First Amendment is implicated. See Catsiff v. 

McCarty, 167 Wn. App. 698,709,274 P.3d 1063 (2012). A facial challenge asserts that the 

statute cannot be properly applied in any context. City of Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 

182 n.7, 795 P.2d 693 (1990). A challenge that a statute is improperly vague as applied must be 

considered in light of the facts of the specific case before the court. Am. Legion Post No. 149, 

164 Wn.2d at 612. Here, GMA makes only an as applied challenge. 

2. "Expectation" of Receiving Contributions in Former RCW 42.17 A.005(3 7) 

Former RCW 42.17 A.005(37) defines "political committee" as any person or 

organization "having the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in 
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support of, or opposition to, any candidate or any ballot proposition." (Emphasis added.) GMA 

argues that the term "expectation" in this statute is impermissibly vague because it is unclear 

whether expectation (1) refers to a near certainty as opposed to a possibility, and (2) refers only 

to organizations with a primary purpose of influencing Washington elections. We disagree. 

In Brumsickle, the Ninth Circuit considered a challenge that "expectation" in an earlier 

version of former RCW 42.l 7A.005(37) was impermissibly vague. 9 624 F.3d at 1020-21. The 

organization in that case argued that "expectation" was vague because "it could be interpreted to 

mean anything from a 'hope' to a 'contract.'" Id. at 1020. The court noted that an entity would 

qualify as a political committee under the contributions prong if it "has given the public 'actual 

or constructive knowledge that the organization is setting aside funds to support or oppose a 

candidate or ballot proposition.' " Id. (quoting EFF, 111 Wn. App. at 602). The court 

summarily held that the term "expectation" was not unconstitutionally vague because the actual 

or constructive knowledge requirement grafted into that term provided the "concrete, discernible 

criteria necessary to prevent arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 

1021. 

Brumsickle is not binding authority, and the court's analysis of vagueness was fairly 

minimal. 624 F.2d at 1020-21. But the court's reasoning is compelling. This court in EFF 

provided a very specific rule for when an organization like GMA that receives contributions 

from its members becomes a political committee: member payments are contributions to a 

political committee if the payments are segregated into a fund for political purposes and the 

members know or should know that the fund will be used for those purposes. 111 Wn. App. at 

9 Brumsickle interpreted the meaning of"expectation" in former RCW 42.17.010, which was 
recodified as RCW 42.l 7A.005 by Laws 2010 ch. 204, § 1102. 
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602. There is nothing vague about that rule. The fact that there may be some uncertainty as to 

how the rule applies in certain cases does not make "expectation" vague. See Am. Legion Post 

No. 149, 164 Wn.2d at 612-13. 

GMA makes two arguments to support its vagueness challenge. First, GMA takes the 

position that "expectation" in former RCW 42.17A.005(37) appears to require an organization to 

know with near certainty that contributions it receives will be used to influence a Washington 

election. GMA argues that a reasonable interpretation of former RCW 42.17 A.005(3 7) is that 

contributions must be specifically earmarked for use in a Washington election for an 

organization to become a political committee. GMA claims that Washington cases support this 

interpretation. 

GMA points out that the trial court's interpretation in this case was that an organization 

becomes a political committee if contributions it received may be used in a Washington election. 

GMA claims that the court applied the FCPA requirements even though the use of the DOB 

account funds to oppose I-522 was only one of several possible options, and was not a certainty. 

GMA argues that the tension between the near-certainty standard and a possibility standard 

makes "expectation" vague. 10 

But GMA's argument is not valid under the facts in this case. The undisputed evidence 

here was that GMA solicited contributions from its members for the DOB account with 

knowledge that some of the funds in the account probably would be used to oppose I-522 in 

Washington. GMA's expectation was much closer to near certainty than to mere possibility, and 

10 GMA also claims that the vagueness of "expectation" is underscored by what it believes has 
been the State's "erratic enforcement" of former RCW 42.17 A.005(3 7). GMA attaches as an 
appendix a table purporting to show this erratic enforcement. But how the State enforced the 
political committee definition in other cases is not directly relevant to an as applied challenge. 
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that expectation became a certainty when GMA began contributing to the "No on 1-522" 

campaign in May 2013. 

Second, GMA argues that in the absence of a primary purpose test for nationwide, multi

purpose organizations, the term "expectation" in former RCW 42.17A.005(37) is vague. GMA 

claims that such an organization would not have fair notice that its conduct in receiving 

contributions that may be used in a Washington election would require reporting and disclosure 

in Washington. 

But this case does not involve a situation in which an organization collected money from 

its members for general purposes and only later decided to spend that money in a Washington 

election. One of GMA's stated goals was to oppose 1-522, a Washington initiative. And GMA 

expected to receive contributions from its members to use for that specific purpose. As a result, 

GMA had fair notice that FCP A regulations would apply to its activities. 

We hold that the term "expectation" in former RCW 42.17 A.005(37) is not vague as 

applied to GMA. 

3. "Concealment" and "Source" in RCW 42.17A.435 

RCW 42.17A.435 states: "No contribution shall be made and no expenditure shall be 

incurred, directly or indirectly, in a fictitious name, anonymously, or by one person through an 

agent, relative, or other person in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the source of the 

contribution or in any other manner so as to effect concealment." GMA argues that this statute is 

impermissibly vague because it is unclear whether (1) "concealment" requires some independent 

act in addition to failing to register as a political committee, and (2) "source" of contributions 

refers to GMA or to the GMA members who funded the DOB account. 
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The only case that addresses RCW 42.17 A.435 is Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. at 

288-89, which interpreted the meaning of the former version of the statute. 11 The court noted 

that the language of the statute must be liberally construed to promote complete disclosure of all 

information regarding the financing of political campaigns. Id. at 288. The court focused on the 

phrase "or in any other manner so as to effect concealment," RCW 42.17 A.435, and stated that 

this broad language covered any action that resulted in concealment. Id. at 289. 

First, OMA argues that RCW 42.17 A.435 must be interpreted as requiring an 

independent act or omission besides the failure to comply with other FCPA regulations. OMA 

claims that apart from failing to register as a political committee, there is no evidence that OMA 

acted in a way that concealed anything. 

However, this is not a vagueness argument. OMA is making a legal argument regarding 

the proper interpretation of RCW 42.17 A.435. No court has addressed whether a violation of 

RCW 42.17 A.435 requires some conduct other than failing to comply with FCPA requirements. 

But the fact that a court has not yet interpreted a statute does not make it vague. See Cascade 

Floral Products, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn. App. 613, 618-19, 177 P.3d 124 

(2008) ("T]he possibility of different meanings alone does not render a statute vague."); see also 

Douglass, 115 Wn.2d at 180 (stating that undefined statutory terms are not necessarily vague). 

OMA essentially is arguing that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment 

regarding a violation of RCW 42.17 A.435 because OMA committed no independent act of 

concealment. However, even under OMA's independent act standard, there was undisputed 

11 Permanent Offense interpreted the concealment language of former RCW 42.17.120, which 
was recodified as RCW 42.17A.435 by Laws 2010, ch. 204, § 1102. 
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evidence at summary judgment that GMA deliberately concealed the identity of its members 

who contributed to the DOB account. 

Second, GMA argues that the term "source" in RCW 42.17 A.435 is vague because it 

could refer to the immediate source of the contributions from the DOB account opposing I-522-

GMA- or to the members who funded the DOB account. 

However, RCW 42.17 A.435 clearly refers to concealment of the identity of both the 

person making the contribution (fictitious name, anonymously) and some other person besides 

the person making the contribution ( one person making a contribution through an agent, relative, 

or other person). Regarding the second category, the "source" of the contribution necessarily 

must refer to the person actually providing the money to the "other person" who is making the 

contribution. 

The GMA members actually were providing the money for the contributions opposing I-

522, and GMA was the agent or "other person" physically making the contributions. In 

structuring the contributions in this manner, GMA deliberately concealed the actual source of the 

contributions - certain GMA members. The statutory language provided fair notice to GMA. 

Further, the last clause ofRCW 42.l 7A.435 does not contain the term "source." A 

person violates RCW 42.17 A.435 by making a contribution "in any other manner so as to affect 

concealment." As the court stated in Permanent Offense, this clause is broadly interpreted to 

cover concealment of any manner. 136 Wn. App. at 288-89. The fact that a statute is broad does 

not make it vague. See Am. Legion Post No. 149, 164 Wn.2d at 613 (stating that a statute is not 

unconstitutionally vague "simply because it could have been drafted with greater precision"). 

We hold that the terms "concealment" and "source" in RCW 42.17A.435 are not vague as 

applied to GMA. 
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E. EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE OF COMMUNICATION AND COOPERATION WITH PDC 

GMA argues that the trial court erred at trial in excluding as irrelevant evidence that it 

communicated and cooperated with the PDC and acted in good faith. We disagree. 

Under ER 402 only relevant evidence is admissible. Evidence is relevant if it has any 

tendency to make the existence of any material fact more or less probable than without the 

evidence. ER 401. We review a trial court's evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. 

Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area, 190 Wn.2d 483,494,415 P.3d 212 

(2018). An abuse of discretion exists when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable 

or based on untenable grounds. Id. 

Here, the trial court ruled that evidence that GMA communicated and cooperated with the 

PDC was not relevant to the issue at trial of whether GMA intended to violate the campaign 

financial disclosure laws. GMA argues that evidence of cooperation with the PDC may have 

resulted in a smaller penalty, but GMA does not explain how. The primary factual issue before 

the trial court was whether GMA intended to violate campaign financial disclosure laws. GMA 

does not suggest how evidence of its communications in October would relate to its intent to 

violate the law in February. 

We hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of 

communication between GMA and the PDC after February 28, 2013. 

F. IMPOSITION OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES FOR INTENTIONAL VIOLATION 

GMA argues that the trial court erred in imposing punitive damages under RCW 

42.l 7A.765(5) based on a finding that GMA's violation of the law was intentional. We hold that 

the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that GMA did not need to subjectively intend to 

violate the law in order to be subject to treble damages under RCW 42.17 A. 765(5). 
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1. Legal Principles 

Under RCW 42.17A.765(5), the court may treble the amount of an PCP A judgment as 

punitive damages "[i]fthe violation is found to have been intentional." Chapter 42.17A RCW 

does not define "intentional" for the purposes of imposing treble damages. 

Whether the trial court correctly interpreted RCW 42.17 A. 765(5) is a matter of statutory 

interpretation and a question of law that we review de novo. See Utter, 182 Wn.2dat 406. The 

primary goal of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislature's intent. Wright v. Lyfl, 

Inc., 189 Wn.2d 718,722,406 P.3d 1149 (2017). We begin with the statute's plain language and 

give undefined statutory terms their usual and plain meaning. AllianceOne Receivables Mgmt., 

Inc. v. Lewis, 180 Wn.2d 389, 395, 325 P.3d 904 (2014). 

2. Trial Court Ruling 

Before trial, the trial court issued a ruling on the meaning of "intentional" under RCW 

42.17A.765(5). The court stated that whether a violation is intentional depends upon whether a 

person intends to engage in the conduct that resulted in a violation of the law, and not on whether 

the person knew that the conduct constituted a violation of the law. The court concluded: 

2. To determine whether a violation is intentional under RCW 42.17A.765, 
Washington law requires the Court to look at whether the person acted with the 
purpose of accomplishing an illegal act under RCW 42.17 A. 

3. "Intentional" for purposes ofRCW 42.17A.765 is not limited to instances where 
the person acted with subjective intent to violate the law. In other words, it is 
not limited to only those instances where the person subjectively knew their 
actions were illegal and acted anyway. 

CP at 3684 (emphasis added). 

3. Meaning of "Intentional" under RCW 42.17A.765(5) 

GMA argues that the trial court erred in concluding in its pretrial ruling that whether 

GMA subjectively intended to violate the FCPA is irrelevant under RCW 42.17A.765(5). GMA 
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claims that the syntax of the statutory language - if "the violation is found to have been 

intentional," RCW 42.l 7A.765(5)- shows that "the person must have intended to violate the law 

at the precise moment that the person acted." Br. of Appellant at 39. 

The State argues that "intentional" in RCW 42.l 7A.765(5) requires that the person act 

with a purpose of accomplishing an act that is illegal, but it does not require a person to know 

that the act was illegal. The State relies on the concept that a person legally intends the 

consequences that are certain or substantially certain to result from an act. Bradley v. Am. 

Smelting & Re.fining Co., 104 Wn.2d 677,683,709 P.2d 782 (1985). 

Both parties rely on RCW 9A.08.010(1), which defines intent in the context of criminal 

statues: "A person acts with intent or intentionally when he or she acts with the objective or 

purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime." GMA argues that the "result" that 

GMA needed to intend was a violation of the law, not an act later held to be a violation. The 

State argues that under this statute, there is no requirement that the actor have knowledge that his 

or her conduct is illegal. 

We agree with GMA. The plain language ofRCW 42.l 7A.765(5) states that the 

violation must be intentional, not that the conduct giving rise to the violation must be intentional. 

This language makes it clear that a party must have knowledge that it was violating the law to be 

subject to treble damages. The fact that GMA deliberately engaged in conduct that the trial court 

later determined was a violation of the FCPA does not mean that GMA intended to violate the 

FCPA. 

Further, the legislature could have used different language in RCW 42.l 7A.765(5) that 

would have focused on a party's intent to engage in certain conduct rather than intent to violate 

the law. For example, the legislature could have allowed for treble damages if a party 
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intentionally failed to register as a political committee. Under such language, GMA would be 

subject to treble damages because it clearly intended not to register. Whether GMA knew that 

failing to register was a violation of the law would be immaterial. But the legislature did not use 

that language. 

We hold that the trial court erred in ruling that GMA did not need to subjectively intend 

to violate the law in order to be subject to treble damages under RCW 42.17 A.765(5). 12 Because 

the trial court's conclusion that GMA intended to violate the law was based on this erroneous 

ruling, that conclusion cannot stand. 

G. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL 

GMA requests an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal under RAP 18.1, which 

allows a party to recover attorney fees on appeal if allowed under the applicable law. GMA 

argues that it is entitled to attorney fees under both 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and RCW 42.l 7A.765(5). 

We disagree. 

Both 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and RCW 42.l 7A.765(5) allow the prevailing party to recover 

attorney fees. Although GMA prevailed on one issue, it did not prevail on any of the other 

issues. Because GMA is not the substantially prevailing party in this appeal, we decline to award 

attorney fees to GMA. 

CONCLUSION 

We affirm the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of the State, 

reverse the trial court's imposition of treble damages against GMA, and remand for further 

12 This interpretation would not preclude a trial court from inferring subjective intent based on 
the actor's conduct or based on the expected consequences of the conduct. 
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proceedings for the trial court to determine whether GMA is subject to treble damages under the 

proper legal standard. 

~-,,_.J. __ 
MAXA, CJ. 

We concur: 

ikf:·1 
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Filed 
Washington State 
Comi of Appeals 

Division Two 

November 7, 2018 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

STA TE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

V. 

GROCERY MANUFACTURERS 
ASSOCIATION, 

Appellant. 

GROCERY MANUFACTURERS 
ASSOCIATION, 

Appellant, 

V. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent. 

No. 49768-9-II 
Consol. w/ 50188-1-II 

ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION 

Appellant Grocery Manufacturers Association moves for reconsideration of a portion of 

the court's September 5, 2018 opinion. Upon consideration, the court denies the motion. 

Accordingly, it is SO ORDERED. 

PANEL: Jj. W orswick, Maxa, Lee 

FOR THE COURT: 
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Statutes and Constitutional Provisions Relevant to Issues 
Presented for Review 

U.S. CONST. amend. I 

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of 
religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging 
the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people 
peaceably to assemble, and to petition the government for a 
redress of grievances. 

RCW 42.17A.005(37)1 

"Political committee" means any person ( except a candidate or 
an individual dealing with his or her own funds or property) 
having the expectation of receiving contributions or making 
expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or 
any ballot proposition. 

RCW 42.17A.435 

No contribution shall be made and no expenditure shall be 
incurred, directly or indirectly, in a fictitious name, 
anonymously, or by one person through an agent, relative, or 
other person in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the 
source of the contribution or in any other manner so as to effect 
concealment. 

1 The Washington State legislature amended RCW 42.17 A.005 in 2018, 
and recodified Subsection .005(37) as Subsection .005( 40). See State v. 
Grocery Mfrs. Ass'n, - Wn. App.-, 425 P.3d 927,931 n.1 (2018) 
(citing Laws of 2018, ch. 304, § 2). This appendix uses the former 
numbering. 
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